

# **CABINET**

# MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE, TREDOMEN ON WEDNESDAY, 1ST NOVEMBER 2017 AT 2.00 P.M.

#### **PRESENT**

Councillor D.V. Poole - Chair

#### Councillors:

C.J. Cuss (Social Care and Well Being), N. George (Neighbourhood Services), C.J. Gordon (Corporate Services), Mrs B.A. Jones (Finance, Performance and Governance), S. Morgan (Economy, Infrastructure and Sustainability), L. Phipps (Homes and Places) and Mrs E. Stenner (Environment and Public Protection)

# Together with:

C. Burns (Interim Chief Executive), C. Harrhy (Corporate Director - Communities), D. Street (Director of Social Services), S. Harris (Interim Head of Corporate Finance)

#### Also in Attendance:

P. Lewis (Acting Head of IT), R. Hartshorn (Head of Public Protection), S. Couzens (Chief Housing Officer), M. Williams (Acting Head of Property), H. Morgan (Senior Committee Clerk)

Wales Audit Office - Non Jenkins and Ron Price

### 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs P.A. Marsden (Education and Achievement) and N. Scammell (Acting Director of Corporate Services and Section 151 Officer).

# 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Mrs B. Jones declared an interest in the report titled WAO Review of the WHQS Delivery Programme. Details are minuted with the respective item.

# 3. CABINET – 18TH OCTOBER 2017

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 18th October 2017 (minute nos. 1 - 7) be approved and signed as a correct record.

#### MATTERS ON WHICH EXECUTIVE DECISIONS WERE REQUIRED

#### 4. WALES AUDIT OFFICE REVIEW OF THE WHQS DELIVERY PROGRAMME

Councillor Mrs B. Jones declared an interest in this item (as having benefited from the programme) and left the meeting during consideration of this item.

N. Jenkins and R. Price attended the meeting to present their findings, conclusions and proposals for improvement as detailed within the document. As part of the WAO performance audit plan the report provided a review of the Council's arrangements to deliver the WHQS by 2020.

N. Jenkins highlighted the key issues contained within the report and referred to the scope of the review, the interviews and evidence collated from Officers, tenants and leaseholders, the conclusions drawn and the subsequent statutory recommendations (which will be followed up to ensure that they are being addressed).

The Corporate Director advised that whilst Officers accept the recommendations within the report, they do not agree with the overall conclusion made, as it does not reflect the position of the programme and evidence to justify this view was provided throughout the report and discussed at the meeting. The report also set out the individual recommendations resulting from the review together with Officers' comments on how these recommendations have or will be addressed.

It was confirmed that the programme was based on the stock condition survey and estimated component costs provided by Savill's Consultants following a 15% survey of the housing stock. Since that time, an exercise to establish the full scope of investment needed to meet WHQS by 2020, based on accurate and comprehensive information has been completed. At the time of the audit preparatory work was being undertaken in order to use this data to reprofile the programme using actual costs. This has now been completed and the programme remains financially viable. The information has also been used to compile a more detailed overarching programme but the timescales laid out in the existing programme have not changed.

With regards to the procurement strategy, it was noted that this had been developed to meet Welsh Government's improvements and efficiency targets. Internal works contracts are predicated on a fixed contract basis using the JCT form of contract and national schedule of rates (reviewed annually) and external works have been developed via various procurement routes in accordance with legislation and in order to manage the supply base, ensure capacity and encourage and grow local contractors. This is managed through a series of arrangements which included the use of the small lots exemption, frameworks and more recently a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS).

In relation to the requirement to provide clear and transparent information to members and tenants about the current position of the programme, Officers have considered the information provided and accept the manner in which information is presented can be improved. As part of the exercise, Officers have reviewed information contained within the programme and have already made amendments to ensure it is clear, accurate and meaningful for all stakeholders.

With regards to programme management, governance and accountability these responsibilities are defined through the WHQS Board, the Caerphilly Homes Task Group, the Repairs and Improvement Group, Corporate Management Team, Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet. The terms of reference of each of these groups will be reviewed to ensure that the respective groups are clear of their remit and purpose as well as ensuring that any urgent decision making required can be taken at the appropriate level.

The WAO report concluded that because of the fragmented nature of documents setting out the reprofilling programme of works, it did not believe they provide a strategic, comprehensive and integrated approach setting out clearly to tenants, councillors, officers and other stakeholders how it will meet the WHQS by 2020. By way of explanation, R. Price advised that it had been difficult to track through decisions on reprofilling and reprogramming. It was confirmed that information contained within reports has also been reviewed to ensure they are presented in a clear and transparent way and contain all relevant details so that the current position of the overall programme is easily communicated to all stakeholders. The effectiveness of the Tenant Liaison Officers had also been raised and the Chief Housing Officer clarified their role as support Officers.

Reference was also made to recommendation 3 whereby the council should ensure it has sufficient project management capacity to deliver the Council's WHQS programme effectively by 2020. In order to assist with the project management of such a major investment programme, the use of resources is being maximised through improved integration within Caerphilly Homes following changes in the management structure last year and by also utilising the services of other departments within the Council, including Building Consultancy, Grounds Maintenance, Highways Operations Group and Network Contracting Services.

During the course of the ensuing debate, concerns were expressed that the report reflects only those properties that have been completed and does not reflect the community based approach adopted whereby internal and external works are undertaken concurrently in different communities. This decision was taken to ensure that all housing communities benefit from the WHQS works at an earlier stage in the programme rather than focussing on completing all WHQS works in one community at a time. As such the information contained in the report is misleading and the comparable performance data with other authorities, although factual in relation to the number of properties completed, is not an accurate picture of the work completed to date as it is not a single method of measure and does not carry a caveat to explain how works within those authorities are programmed. To date, 85% of properties across the county borough have received either internal or external works.

With regards to views expressed by tenants as detailed in the report, R. Price advised that given the time constraints, interviews has only been undertaken with 6 tenants that sit on the Caerphilly Homes Task Group. They had also expressed concerns about the quality of work undertaken. Cabinet agreed that this was not representative of the number of tenants throughout the borough upon which to base the conclusion recommendations and that further research should have been undertaken. Tenant satisfaction survey results show for internal works for the whole contract to date. 89% of tenants were very satisfied or satisfied, 5% neither satisfied nor dissatisfied and 6% dissatisfied or very dissatisfied. As such, the data within WAO report could not be seen as reflecting all views and had not taken into account this information. R. Price advised that this would be taken into account when the follow up report is being prepared with more interviews with stakeholders.

The Interim Chief Executive advised that Officers accept that further improvements need to be made and agree with the recommendations set out by WAO. These identified improvements are being delivered in accordance with the action plan detailed in the appendix to the report and progress on the action plan will be monitored on a monthly basis by Caerphilly Homes Project Board. It is accepted that the recommendations were following the review during March/April 2017, however at that point in time significant changes were already in the process of being made and this is demonstrated within the action plan with many tasks already completed. Officers do not agreed with the overall conclusion drawn as it is felt that this statement does not offer a fair assessment of the position of the programme. The report provided information to support this view, details of which were highlighted at the meeting.

Whilst accepting that the completion of the programme by 2020 is challenging based on the current position and anticipated projections, 75% of internal works and 40% of external works are expected to be completed by March 2018. By March 2019, 94% of internal works are expected to be completed and 80% of external works. There is a plan and resources in place

to complete the programme by 2020. Officers consider that the measures put in place have resulted in a significantly increased and focused rate of completions and are confident that the programme will be completed by 2020.

Following detailed debate on the content of the Wales Audit Office Report, and in noting that several conclusions had been drawn based on consultation with 6 members of the Caerphilly Homes Task Group and that it does not accurately reflect the position at that time and the way in which internal and external works had been completed, it was moved and seconded that the recommendations contained therein be noted. By show of hands this was unanimously agreed.

# RESOLVED that;

- (i) following detailed debate on the content of the Wales Audit Office Report, its content and the recommendations contained therein be noted;
- (ii) as detailed in the Officers report, the response to the Wales Audit Report, which addresses its content, the issues raised and the proposals for improvement as set out therein be endorsed

The Chair thanked both N. Jenkins and R. Price for presenting the report and for responding to issues raised during the course for the debate and welcomed the review in 2019.

### 5. ANNUAL IMPROVEMENT REPORT 2016-17

Consideration was given to the report, issued at the end of August 2017 which outlines the key messages from the Wales Audit Office (WAO) Annual Improvement Report (AIR).

N. Jenkins gave an overview of the report which makes a judgement as to whether we have and are likely to comply with our statutory duty in compliance with the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 to 'make arrangements to demonstrate continuous improvement'. She advised that the document summarises the work carried out by the WAO during the year of 2016/17 and provides the regulators judgement as to whether we will comply with the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Following discussion on its content, It was moved and seconded that finding of the Wales Audit Office in that 'Based on, and limited to, the work carried out by the Wales Audit Office and relevant regulators, the Auditor General believes that the Council is likely to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Measure (2009) during 2017-18 providing it responds constructively and in a timely way to our statutory recommendations" be noted. By show of hands this was unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED that the findings of the Wales Audit Office be noted.

The Chair thanked N. Jenkins for presenting the report and for responding to issues raised during the course for the debate.

# 6. SOCIAL SERVICES ASSISTED TRANSPORT POLICY

Consideration was given to the report which was presented to, and supported by the Health, Social Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee on 24th October 2017.

The Director of Social Services advised that assisted transport is the discretionary provision of transport by social services to enable individuals to access the community support service for which individuals have been assessed as eligible to attend (i.e. day services). The aim of the Assisted Transport policy (as detailed in the appendix to the report) is to provide a clear framework for practitioners to assess and support individuals to identify methods of promoting

independence when accessing transport. By identifying what is available within the local community it provides a consistent approach to determining eligibility for funded transport where it has been identified as a requirement to access services commissioned by Social Services. It is proposed that the policy is implemented from 1st January 2018 for all new requests for transport made to Adult Social Services.

During the course of the debate, and in noting the application and appeals process and to address any query as to the time taken to determine an application, it was moved and seconded that the content of the Policy be amended to detail the assessment process, timelines for determining applications and the appeals process and be further considered by Cabinet in due course. By show of hands this was unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED that the content of the Policy be amended to detail the assessment process, timelines for determining applications and the appeals process and be further considered by Cabinet in due course.

# 7. WALES AUDIT OFFICE (WAO) LOCAL RISK BASED REVIEWS: ASSET MANAGEMENT AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT AND TECHNOLOGY - CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Consideration was given to the report which provided details of the review undertaken by Wales Audit Office in respect of Asset Management and Information Management and Technology (IM&T).

N. Jenkins advised that the WAO review has no statutory recommendations or proposals for improvement, and are proposing further work, particularly around the Business Improvement Board.

The document concludes that the Council has a good understanding of its assets and current IT arrangements but lacks a strategic approach to direct their use. With regards to Information Management and Technology it has been noted that there are a range of related policies, plans and processes but no overarching digital strategy to drive activities. The WAO acknowledged that the Council is currently developing an outline business case to consider whether to join the regional Shared Resource Service (SRS) and as such, consideration would be given to carrying out more specific work, focussing on one or more area as part of the 2017-18 performance audit programme:

In relation to asset management, the report concludes that the Council recognises the key role its assets have in helping to deliver its priorities. It was explained that as a consequence of more difficult and challenging savings targets, decisions are required to be made on the level and nature of services which will include some major assets, work is being undertaken on a number of Individual asset management plans are not yet in place for a number of service areas.

The WAO report concluded that as a result of these ongoing reviews, it would not be helpful to have a corporate asset management plan and service asset management plans covering those services currently under review. However, as these reviews are completed, the Council will need to consider if its corporate asset management strategy should be updated to accommodate any asset related issues. It has also concluded that as a result of the findings from a number of reviews over the last 12-18 months that there was a need to carry out a detailed review of the effectiveness of Council's Business Improvement Board in providing strategic overview and direction for the Council's key business improvement projects.

Following discussion on its content, it was moved and seconded that finding of the Wales Audit Office be noted. By show of hands this was unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED that the findings of the Wales Audit Office be noted.

The Chair thanked N. Jenkins for presenting the report and responding to issues raised during the course for the debate.
The meeting closed at 4pm.
Approved and signed as a correct record subject to any corrections made at the meeting held on 15th November 2017.
CHAIR